

CAPT Decision-Support Tools

PREVENTING PRESCRIPTION DRUG MISUSE:

Overview of Factors and Strategies

Using Prevention Research to Guide Prevention Practice SAMHSA's Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies
Updated May 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

OVERVIEW	2
HOW THE TOOLS ARE ORGANIZED	2
UNDERSTANDING WHO IS AT RISK	4
Individual-Level Factors	5
Relationship-Level Factors	6
Community-Level Factors	7
Societal-Level Factors	7
PREVENTION PROGRAMS AND STRATEGIES	8
Education	8
Tracking and Monitoring	9
Proper Medication Disposal	10
Harm Reduction	10
Multi-Component	11
DISCUSSION	11
Risk and Protective Factors	11
Programs and Strategies	12
Limitations and Caveats	13
Next Steps	14
REFERENCES	15

OVERVIEW

The nonmedical use of prescription drugs (NMUPD) has become an increasing public health concern in the United States, with abuse rates rising rapidly since the late 1990s. Yet preventing and reducing prescription drug misuse represents a major challenge for several reasons. First, we know less about the factors that contribute to NMUPD than about those that contribute to other drug use. Also, because of how prescription drugs are made available, these factors may differ from those that are associated with alcohol misuse and illicit drug use. Another major challenge is the fact that prescription drugs offer important health benefits, in addition to presenting risks. Prevention strategies, therefore, are often more restrained and less known than those targeting alcohol and illicit drug use; and involve key intermediaries different from those who supply alcohol and other drugs. Moreover, because NMUPD prevention is a relatively new field, few strategies have been subjected to evaluation.

Building on past and current work at the state and local level, SAMHSA's Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies (CAPT) has developed two decision-support tools that highlight factors and strategies associated NMUPD. These include:

- <u>Preventing Prescription Drug Misuse: Understanding Who Is at Risk</u>, which summarizes information from cross-sectional and longitudinal studies on factors that have been shown to either increase risk of or protect against NMUPD.
- <u>Preventing Prescription Drug Misuse: Programs and Strategies</u>, which provides brief summaries of substance abuse prevention strategies and associated programs that have been evaluated to determine their effects on NMUPD.

Each tool is based on a review of the literature; guidelines for the reviews are described in their respective tools.

HOW THE TOOLS ARE ORGANIZED

The two tools are organized differently. The first tool, *Preventing Prescription Drug Misuse: Understanding Who Is at Risk,* is organized according to the **socio-ecological model**, a multi-level framework that allows us to consider the different contexts in which risk and protective factors exist. This model considers the different contexts and settings with which a person interacts and is based on the premise that we are influenced not only by traits specific to us or what we think and believe, but by our relationships with others, the institutions and communities to which we belong, and the broader society in which those institutions are embedded.

2000 A SOUTH SAME A SOUTH SAME

MEDIA

NEIGHBORHOODL

There are four levels to the socio-ecological model: 1, 2, 3

- Individual level: Includes factors specific to the individual, such as age, education, income, health, and psychosocial problems, which may correspond with substance use and misuse.
- **Relationship level**: Includes an individual's closest social circle—family members, peers, teachers, and other close relationships—that contribute to his or her range of experiences and that may influence his or her behavior.
- Community level: Includes the settings in which social relationships occur, such as schools, workplaces, and neighborhoods. These factors can have both negative and positive associations with substance use and misuse.
- Societal level: Includes the broad societal factors, such as social and cultural norms. Other significant factors operating at this level include the health, economic, educational, and social policies that contribute to economic and/or social inequalities between populations.

Factors that influence future behavior are often categorized as either risk or protective factors. Here, a protective factor is a characteristic operating at the individual, relationship, community, or societal level that is associated with a lower likelihood of NMUPD or that reduces the negative impact of a risk factor on NMUPD. Conversely, a risk factor is a characteristic at each level of the socio-ecological model that precedes and is associated with a higher likelihood of NMUPD.4

The second tool, Preventing Prescription Drug Misuse: Programs and Strategies, is organized according to five categories similar to those listed in the national Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan, 5 which calls for education, monitoring, proper disposal, and enforcement. We added an additional category harm reduction—to highlight programs and strategies that reduce the likelihood of overdose and overdose consequences. Because our search yielded no evaluation studies of enforcement strategies, we eliminated that category. It is important to note, however, that enforcement stakeholders are involved with implementing many programs that are not explicitly designated as "enforcement," such as prescription drug take-back programs and prescription drug monitoring programs. We also added a

¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015

² World Health Organization, 2016

³ Domains and sub-domains of the socio-ecological model often overlap or are nested within each other. For example, bullying is an individual-level risk factor that falls under the interpersonal behavior sub-domain; however, bullying in a school setting could also be considered a community-level risk factor that falls under the school sub-domain.

⁴ O'Connell, Boat, & Warner, 2009

⁵ US Executive Office of the President, 2011

multi-component category because some strategies were combined and evaluated together, and the outcomes of those studies cannot necessarily be attributed to one specific strategy.

Specifically, strategies are organized into the following categories:

- **Education** is implemented to increase awareness of prescription drug misuse dangers for the public and health care providers. It also provides opportunities to teach individuals how to properly dispense, store, and dispose of controlled substances.
- Tracking and monitoring helps detect "doctor shoppers" and identify prescribers who have aberrant prescribing practices. The objective of tracking and monitoring is to reduce access and availability of prescription drugs to those who would misuse them.
- **Proper medication disposal** provides ways for people to safely and responsibly get rid of controlled substances that they have in their household. The objective of proper medication disposal is to limit access and availability, as well as raise awareness of prescription drug misuse.
- Harm reduction mitigates risks associated with prescription drug misuse and overdose. These
 strategies are not necessarily focused on preventing drug misuse, rather they are designed to
 reduce death, disability, and other negative consequences associated with prescription drug
 misuse and overdose.
- Multi-component programs combine more than one type of strategy in order to address
 multiple risk factors (e.g., lack of awareness, perceptions of harm, access and availability,
 overdose antidote use) associated with prescription drug misuse and overdose.

UNDERSTANDING WHO IS AT RISK

Our search of the literature yielded many more risk than protective factors. In addition, the majority of factors are situated at the individual level of the socio-ecological model, which focuses on an individual's personal experience rather than contextual factors. We also found studies that included populations across the whole lifespan, ranging in age from 12 years old to over 70, and focused on special population groups or groups at increased risk for NMUPD and other types of substance abuse (such as homeless young adults, veterans, active duty service members, lesbian and gay youth, cancer patients, and Medicaid recipients). In addition, while our literature search included search terms that encompass various types of prescription drugs, the class of drug that was represented most frequently in the identified studies was opioids. Here is what we found at the specific socio-ecological levels:

4

⁶ For more information on search terms and inclusion criteria, see <u>Preventing Prescription Drug Misuse: Understanding Who Is at Risk.</u>

INDIVIDUAL-LEVEL FACTORS

At the individual level, individuals most at risk of NMUPD include those with a history of mental illness (i.e., history of depression, posttraumatic stress disorder, anxiety), acute and chronic pain (i.e., having a current painful physical disorder, chronic pain, past-year back pain¹²), physical health problems (i.e., fatigue, headaches¹⁴), and heightened physiological reactions to certain types of drugs (i.e., having a greater subjective euphoric reaction¹⁵). The link between pain, physical health problems, and opioid use seems likely because these drugs (e.g., opioids) are often prescribed to lessen pain. It may be that people start by using opioids as prescribed, develop dependence, have a difficult time tapering off and, ultimately, find a way to access and use against original doctor's orders. Having prescription drugs on hand may perpetuate NMUPD because evidence suggests that individuals who have access to prescriptions drugs¹⁸ and who are prescribed opioids at a large dosage¹⁹ or have multiple prescriptions²⁰ are at greater risk of NMUPD.

Having a past **history of other substance use or misuse** is also linked to NMUPD. People who have a history of substance use disorder, who use alcohol heavily, or who use illicit drugs are more likely to engage in NMUPD. These individuals have already engaged in risky behaviors; they have initiated substance use and some are abusing other substances. This finding also suggests that those who misuse prescription drugs are more likely to also be polydrug users.²¹ It may also suggest that these individuals may benefit from prevention messages and interventions other than those that specifically target NMUPD. A broader, more comprehensive approach to preventing substance misuse in general may be appropriate to those in this category exhibiting risk for NMUPD.

Regarding protective factors, individuals who **commit to doing well**²² and **finishing school**²³ are less likely to misuse prescription drugs. These include individuals who are current students,²⁴ have a high school diploma,²⁵ or have attended a prevention class.²⁶ Students who are committed to school and

⁷ Boscarino et al., 2010; Ford & Rigg, 2015; Grattan, Sullivan, Saunders, Campbell, & Von Korff, 2012; Koyyalagunta et al., 2013; Park & Lavin, 2010

⁸ Mackesy-Amiti, Donenberg, & Ouellet, 2015

⁹ Koyyalagunta et al., 2013; Mowbray & Quinn, 2015

¹⁰ Edlund, Steffick, Hudson, Harris, & Sullivan, 2007; Sullivan et al., 2010

¹¹ Rosenblum et al., 2007

¹² Cepeda, Fife, Kihm, Mastrogiovanni, & Yuan, 2014; Edlund et al., 2010; Sullivan et al., 2010

¹³ Koyyalagunta et al., 2013

¹⁴ Edlund et al., 2010

¹⁵ Bieber et al., 2008

¹⁶ Haddox et al., 1997; Joranson, Ryan, Gilson, & Dahl, 2000

¹⁷ Lankenau et al., 2012

¹⁸ Edlund et al., 2014; Jeffery, Babeu, Nelson, Kloc, & Klette, 2013; Silva, Schrager, Kecojevic, & Lankenau, 2013

⁹ Bohnert et al., 2011; Edlund, Steffick, Hudson, Harris, & Sullivan, 2007; Koyyalagunta et al., 2013; Sullivan et al., 2010

²⁰ Peirce, Smith, Abate, & Halverson, 2012

²¹ McCabe & Teter, 2007; Sung, Richter, Vaughan, Johnson, & Thom, 2005

 $^{^{\}rm 22}$ Collins, Abadi, Johnson, Shamblen, & Thompson, 2011

²³ Arkes & Iguchi, 2008

²⁴ Arkes & Iguchi, 2008

²⁵ Arkes & Iguchi, 2008

²⁶ Ford & Rigg, 2015

have a strong school bond are less likely to engage in risky behaviors. The Social Development Model²⁷ suggests that this occurs because once a student has strong school bonds, they conform to the norms and values of the school; if the school norms discourage substance use or misuse, then a strongly bonded student will more likely remain faithful to the norms and not engage in substance use. It is worth noting, however, that one study found that having a college degree was associated with higher likelihood of unintentional fatal opioid overdose at home for New York City residents.²⁸ This study differs from the other studies examining associations between academic achievement and NMUPD in that the sample studied included individuals who unintentionally overdosed on opioids at home or outside the home. It's possible that there is something about having a college education that propels opioid misuse at home rather than outside the home and requires further exploration.

Another common protective factor includes **perceptions about prescription drug misuse**. For example, if individuals don't think they are doing anything wrong when they take prescription drugs without a doctor's orders, then they are more likely to misuse them.²⁹ Conversely, those who are concerned about the dangers of prescription drugs are less likely to misuse them.³⁰ These findings mirror those from studies linking perception of harm and other kinds of substance abuse (e.g., alcohol).³¹

RELATIONSHIP-LEVEL FACTORS

At the relationship level, our inner circle of family and friends, with whom we are in direct contact and communicate most frequently, influence our attitudes and behaviors. Family, especially parents, can influence NMUPD among children both positively and negatively. For example, adolescent children whose parents express disapproval of substance use³² or who have a strong bond with their parents³³ are less likely to misuse prescription drugs; adolescent children whose parents express favorable attitudes toward substance use, however, are more likely to misuse prescription drugs.³⁴

Youth exposure to prescription drug use in the household environment can also influence their future drug use. For example, youth who have **witnessed a family member overdose** are more likely to overdose on prescription drugs themselves,³⁵ and youth who have accessed stimulants for the first time in their homes initiated NMUPD at a relatively early age.³⁶ Peer attitudes and behaviors also may be strongly associated with individuals' NMUPD. Young people who associate with a large number of friends that misuse prescription drugs are more likely to do the same compared to their counterparts.³⁷ Certain social networks and situations also trigger misuse. For example, compared to their counterparts, college students involved with fraternities and sororities were more likely to misuse

²⁷ Catalano & Hawkins, 1996

²⁸ Siegler, Tuazon, O'Brien, & Paone, 2014

²⁹ Collins, Abadi, Johnson, Shamblen, & Thompson, 2011

³⁰ Ford & Rigg, 2015

³¹ Henry, Slater, & Oetting, 2005

³² Collins, Abadi, Johnson, Shamblen, & Thompson, 2011

³³ Schroeder & Ford, 2012

³⁴ Ford & Rigg, 2015

³⁵ Silva, Schrager, Kecojevic, & Lankenau, 2013

³⁶ Kecojevic et al., 2012

³⁷ Collins, Abadi, Johnson, Shamblen, & Thompson, 2011; Ford & Rigg, 2015; Schroeder & Ford, 2012

stimulants,³⁸ and Filipino-American respondents who experienced discrimination in their routine interactions were more likely to misuse prescription drugs.³⁹

COMMUNITY-LEVEL FACTORS

At the community level, the settings where we live and work can influence the decisions we make and our subsequent behaviors. Research demonstrates that aspects of our neighborhoods where we live can influence misuse of prescription drugs. For youth ages 12 to 17, moving three or more times in the past year and/or living in an urban environment can increase the likelihood of misusing opioids. In general, residential mobility or instability is associated with adverse childhood experiences and can put a child at risk for developmental and social problems. Frequent mobility often disrupts routines and breaks social ties. When youth move, social capital shifts—they can lose social support and access to resources that can help them navigate developmental challenges. In addition, research suggests that having a Gay-Straight Alliance in schools is protective for sexual and gender minority students in high school, and helps protect against prescription opioid and ADHD medication misuse. Community norms that disapprove of NMUPD also protect against NMUPD: if the community as a whole disapproves of use (or if young people think that their community frowns upon NMUPD), young people in that community will be less likely to misuse prescription drugs.

SOCIETAL-LEVEL FACTORS

Societal-level factors, at the outermost level of the socio-ecological model, encompass elements of the broader culture and policy context. Out of all the socio-ecological levels, we were able to find the fewest societal-level factors related to NMUPD, primarily because the research in this area is limited. The few factors we did find, however, reveal that some individuals may turn to substances to cope with environmental stressors. One stressor associated with increased likelihood of NMUPD is discriminatory practices directed toward individuals who are traditionally underrepresented or marginalized. Discriminatory events (i.e., "treated unfairly or badly" because of racial or ethnic status, speaking a different language, or speaking with an accent) and unfair treatment based on social status (i.e., being treated with less courtesy or respect than others; experiencing worse service at restaurants or stores; people acting "afraid of you," like "you are dishonest," or they are "better than you"; being called names or insulted; and being threatened or harassed) permeate society and can place individuals, relationships, social networks, and communities on the receiving end at risk for prescription drug misuse.⁴⁵

³⁸ Gallucci, Martin, Beaujean, & Usdan, 2015

³⁹ Gee, Delva, & Takeuchi, 2007

⁴⁰ Ford & Rigg, 2015

⁴¹ Dong et al., 2005

⁴² Anderson, Leventhal, Newman, & Dupéré, 2014

⁴³ Heck et al., 2014

⁴⁴ Collins, Abadi, Johnson, Shamblen, & Thompson, 2011

⁴⁵ Gee, Delva, & Takeuchi, 2007

PREVENTION PROGRAMS AND STRATEGIES

Our literature search revealed 17 strategies that produced prescription drug-related outcomes. Most of the strategies (n=7) were categorized as "education" strategies; only one was categorized as an example of "proper medication disposal" (Prescription Drug Take-Back Programs). The remaining three categories—tracking and monitoring, harm reduction, and multi-component—contain three strategies each. Overall, the strategies span from a universal⁴⁶ to an indicated⁴⁷ focus. For example, many of the education strategies are universally focused with attention given to educating the general population on the dangers of prescription drug misuse, and teaching prescribers safer prescribing practices and guidelines. On the other hand, there are strategies designed for a more indicated population, such as those regarding naloxone distribution and education. These are designed not to prevent initiation, but to reduce negative consequences (e.g. overdose) for those who are already using. Below is additional detail on what we found.

EDUCATION

Given that opioids are one of the most commonly researched misused prescription drug, ⁴⁸ many of the educational strategies our search yielded specifically focused on opioid misuse. Because most misused opioids derive from social sources (e.g., receiving controlled substances through family and friends for free⁴⁹), educational strategies have focused—with some success—on reducing this kind of access. For example, parents who were taught the dangers of prescription drug misuse through interactive "family night" sessions were more likely to restrict access to prescription drugs in their household, ⁵⁰ thus reducing opportunities for their children or other individuals to obtain the drugs for misuse. This program may also cultivate greater parental disapproval toward prescription drug misuse—an identified protective factor for youth. ⁵¹ In addition, a widespread media campaign implemented in Utah demonstrated that those who saw the media messages were less likely to share their prescription drugs and less likely to use prescription drugs that were not prescribed to them. ⁵² Although these educational strategies are not directly associated with misuse, they are linked to factors (e.g., lack of knowledge about the potential dangers of prescription opioid misuse, ease of access) that place people at potentially higher risk of NMUPD.

We also found several educational strategies that aimed to reduce access to and availability of prescription drugs for those who are likely to misuse them. These types of strategies typically targeted drug prescribers. In fact, evidence suggests that prescribers taught best practices for opioid prescribing and provided information regarding opioid dosing guidelines were more likely to safeguard against

⁴⁶ Interventions that target the general public and/or a whole population that has not been identified on the basis of individual risk.

⁴⁷ Interventions that target individuals at high risk who have minimal but detectable signs or symptoms of mental illness or substance use/misuse problems (prior to the diagnosis of a disorder).

⁴⁸ Zosel, Bartelson, Bailey, Lowenstein, & Dart, 2013

⁴⁹ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2014

⁵⁰ Collins, Johnson, & Shamblen, 2012

⁵¹ Collins, Abadi, Johnson, Shamblen, & Thompson, 2011

⁵² Johnson, Porucznik, Anderson, & Rolfs, 2011

potential patient misuse. For example, prescribers were less likely to prescribe opioids at high dosages when they were provided opioid dosing guidelines.⁵³ Physicians participating in educational presentations describing recommended prescribing practices also were less likely to prescribe longacting opioids for acute pain and more likely to adopt other recommended practices.⁵⁴ Having a prescription for a controlled substance,⁵⁵ obtaining multiple prescriptions,⁵⁶ and having a large dosage prescribed⁵⁷ are all risk factors related to elements of prescription misuse.

TRACKING AND MONITORING

Tracking and monitoring strategies help law enforcement and regulatory agencies detect "doctor shoppers" and identify prescribers who have unusual prescribing practices. The best-known example of tracking and monitoring interventions are prescription drug monitoring programs (PDMPs): electronic databases, which track prescribing and dispensing of opioid analgesics and other controlled substances. PDMPs allow prescribers to obtain information on individuals' prescription drug use, and allow pharmacists and law enforcement to follow the prescribing behavior of health professionals. For example, if a prescriber finds, after examining PDMP data, that a patient has many prescriptions for commonly misused prescription drugs (i.e., opioids, tranquilizers, sedatives, and stimulants), then s/he can make an informed decision about whether or not to provide that patient with another prescription and/or to screen for a potential substance abuse disorder. Pharmacists and law enforcement agents may use PDMP data to determine which health care professionals in their community are prescribing commonly misused prescription drugs often and in large dosages. This kind of prescribing behavior may signal the presence of "pill mills⁵⁹" where health care professionals are overprescribing potentially addictive medication.

"Pill mills" and "doctor shopping" behavior contributes to the possibility of diversion—that is, using prescription drugs, without doctors' orders, to get high. Research suggests that prescription drug abusers and traffickers use pain clinics to obtain controlled substances in large doses, and engage in "doctor shopping" behavior in order to obtain drugs for themselves to abuse or to sell to others for profit. Onlividuals who have a history of doctor shopping are at an increased risk of a drug-related death. Tracking and monitoring strategies, such as PDMPs, have been somewhat successful in reducing NMUPD and its precursors (e.g., limiting access). In those states with a functioning PDMP, there were

⁵³ Garg et al., 2013

⁵⁴ Cochella & Bateman, 2011

⁵⁵ Edlund et al., 2010; Jeffery, Babeu, Nelson, Kloc, & Klette, 2013; Silva, Schrager, Kecojevic, & Lankenau, 2013

⁵⁶ Ehrentraut et al., 2014; Peirce, Smith, Abate, & Halverson, 2012

⁵⁷ Bohnert et al., 2011; Edlund et al., 2014; Edlund, Steffick, Hudson, Harris, & Sullivan, 2007; Koyyalagunta et al., 2013; Sullivan et al., 2010

⁵⁸"Doctor Shoppers" is a term used to describe individuals who simultaneously visit multiple health care providers to obtain multiple prescriptions for medications during a single illness episode or for treating a continuous illness (Sansone & Sansone, 2012)

⁵⁹"Pill Mill" is a term used to describe a doctor, pain clinic, or pharmacy that indiscriminately prescribes or dispenses controlled prescription drugs (Rigg, March, & Inciardi, 2010).

⁶⁰ Inciardi, Surratt, Kurtz, & Cicero, 2007

⁶¹ Peirce, Smith, Abate, & Halverson, 2012

significantly lower increases in the number of Oxycodone shipments,⁶² intentional exposures to NMUPDs,⁶³ and treatment admissions associated with NMUPD compared to states without a PDMP.⁶⁴

Another tracking and monitoring strategy is Triplicate Prescription Programs (TPPs), which require physicians to issue prescriptions for certain controlled substances using multiple copy forms, with the extra copies either retained for record-keeping purposes or submitted to monitoring agencies. Some states have implemented TPPs as precursors to PDMPs. The New York TPP demonstrated significant reductions in problematic benzodiazepine use, pharmacy-hopping, and non-problematic benzodiazepine use with non-problematic and potentially problematic use decreasing the most among African-American individuals.⁶⁵

PROPER MEDICATION DISPOSAL

Proper medication disposal provides safe and responsible ways for people to dispose of prescription drugs kept in their homes. Take-back programs, a popular proper medication disposal strategy, provide avenues to reduce the supply of drugs available for diversion. The logic behind take-back programs goes something like this: If people dispose of their drugs, then they may be less likely to offer them to friends or family, have drugs ingested by and poison young children or unknowing guests, or have drugs taken from their homes for illicit purposes. Prescription Drug Take-Back Programs collect individuals' unwanted or expired prescription drugs voluntarily through the use of drop boxes or take-back events. Evidence does not support the logic provided above in terms of how take-back programs influence individuals' misuse; however, we do know that these programs collect thousands of pounds of drugs with only 10% of the drugs being commonly abused prescription drugs.⁶⁶ Practice-based evidence indicates that take-back programs also may be implemented to increase awareness of NMUPD and enhance community readiness to implement a more comprehensive prevention strategy.⁶⁷

HARM REDUCTION

Harm reduction strategies mitigate risks associated with prescription drug misuse and overdose. These strategies do not focus solely on preventing prescription drug use and initiation, rather they are designed to reduce death, disability, and other negative consequences associated with NMUPD and overdose. Two of the three harm reduction strategies we identified combine overdose education with naloxone distribution. Naloxone is an overdose antidote that sometimes goes by the brand name Narcan™. This combination has been associated with increased overdose reversals⁶⁸ and knowledge of overdose symptoms. The third harm reduction strategy our search yielded is the alteration of the drug's chemical or physical formulation to inhibit its abusive properties. Prescription drug abuse

⁶² Reisman, Shenoy, Atherly, & Flowers, 2009

⁶³ Reifler et al., 2012

⁶⁴ Reifler et al., 2012

⁶⁵ Pearson et al., 2006

⁶⁶ Ma, Batz, Juarez, & Ladao, 2014

⁶⁷ G. Rots, personal communication, July 30, 2015

⁶⁸ Walley et al., 2013

⁶⁹ Green, Heimer, & Grau, 2008

deterrent formulation packaging has been associated with a decrease in participants reporting OxyContin as their primary drug of abuse and a decrease in past 30-day OxyContin misuse; however, a substantial percent (24%) of participants were able to overcome the new formulation and a majority (66%) of participants moved on to other opioids.⁷⁰ While the reformulations diverted users from OxyContin misuse, the majority turned to other opioids and continued to misuse.

MULTI-COMPONENT

Multi-component programs combine multiple strategies in order to address the various factors that influence NMUPD. One program that we found, Project Lazarus, has five major components: (1) community activation and coalition building to raise community awareness and actively engage the community in intervention design; (2) monitoring data on overdose, prescribing behavior, and other relevant data; (3) prevention program implementation at multiple levels throughout the community; (4) education on overdose antidote use for prescribers and the general community in order to change attitudes toward opioid misuse and abuse; and (5) evaluation to assess program impact and identify areas needing improvement. Project Lazarus activities have been linked to decreases in overdose death rates.⁷¹

Another multi-component program we found in our search, Communities that Care (CTC), requires communities to create and implement a data-informed community action plan for preventing NMUPD. While communities implementing the CTC approach have demonstrated reductions in risk behaviors associated with NMUPD, they have not affected prescription drug use rates.⁷²

A third multi-component strategy, Iowa Strengthening Families Program (ISFP): For Parents and Youth 10-14, includes intensive youth and parent skill-building components paired with family and classroom curricula. Compared to non-participants, ISFP participants demonstrated lower rates of lifetime prescription drug misuse, which persisted over time.⁷³

DISCUSSION

Overall, preventing and reducing prescription drug misuse may be a challenge. We know less about the risk and protective factors that contribute to NMUPD than about the factors that contribute to other drug use; we also know less about the strategies that are effective for prevention.

RISK AND PROTECTIVE FACTORS

Our search yielded many more risk than protective factors. This suggests a better understanding of what places people at increased risk for NMUPD than what protects them from harm. In addition, the majority of factors that we found are situated at the individual level of the socio-ecological model which

⁷⁰ Cicero, Ellis, & Surratt, 2012

⁷¹ Albert et al., 2011

⁷² Hawkins et al., 2009; Hawkins et al., 2012

⁷³ Spoth et al., 2013

focuses on an individual's personal experience rather than contextual factors. These findings do not mean that individual-level influences are more pronounced than contextual influences. Rather, they indicate that more research has been conducted to examine associations between individual- (and, even relationship-) level factors and NMUPD than between contextual factors and NMUPD. One reason for this discrepancy may be that it is more difficult to measure contextual factors, such as community disorganization, than an individual-level factor, such as perception of harm. Furthermore, the theoretical mechanisms through which contextual factors might influence NMUPD are not well understood, thereby limiting exploration of those relationships.

Interestingly, many of the studies we looked at focused on special population groups or groups at increased risk for NMUPD and other types of substance abuse. These populations included, for example, homeless young adults, veterans, active duty service members, lesbian and gay youth, cancer patients, and Medicaid recipients. Given this trend to focus on specific rather than general population groups, readers are encouraged to pay close attention to characteristics of the populations studied and how some risk factors influence NMUPD among those populations, but not necessarily other groups.

Moreover, opioid misuse was studied more frequently than other classes of prescription drugs. One reason for this could be the growing availability of opioids compared to other drugs. Over the years, there has been marked increases in prescriptions written for opioids.⁷⁴ In the late 1990's and early 2000's, pharmaceutical companies started expanding sales and campaigns to encourage physicians (including primary care specialists not necessarily trained in pain management) to prescribe OxyContin not just for cancer pain, but for moderate-to-severe non-cancer pain—leading to a commensurate rise in prescriptions. In addition, the original formulations of these drugs provided a rapid release of opiates and a quick reinforcement of a high. The combination of increased access and rapid release drug formulations has been associated with an increase in opioid misuse and overdoses.⁷⁵

PROGRAMS AND STRATEGIES

In general, we found relatively few prevention strategies and programs that demonstrated evidence of effectiveness in preventing or reducing NMUPD and its consequences. The most commonly evaluated (and, arguably, implemented) program type is education. Carefully crafted educational strategies may be vital to community prioritization of and action to alleviate NMUPD because they promote understanding of the problem and demonstrate how communities can address the problem. On the other hand, educational programs that simply disseminate information often do not facilitate widespread behavior change. They may, however, influence attitudes and beliefs that place individuals at greater risk of NMUPD—beliefs such as perceptions of harm and intentions to control the supply of prescription drugs in the home. Educational strategies coupled with other strategy types may be more likely to affect NMUPD. A more comprehensive approach to prevention, combining strategies that target multiple risk and protective factors, may show promise in reducing NMUPD—perhaps one that spans

⁷⁴ Zacny et al., 2003

⁷⁵ United States General Accounting Office, 2003

multiple socio-ecological levels and comprises more than one strategy may be most effective and achieve the greatest impact.⁷⁶

To select relevant strategies to implement, practitioners should prioritize strategies that target risk and protective factors supported by local data. This requires conducting an assessment to determine what influences NMUPD in your community. You may discover factors that differ from those in our review of the literature that are presented in these tools. To be effective, however, prevention strategies or interventions must be linked to the risk and protective factors that drive the problem in your community. Therefore, do not feel bound by what you read here. Instead consider it one of many information sources.

After determining local factors, use the tool <u>Preventing Prescription Drug Misuse: Programs and Strategies</u> to determine whether any programs exist that address those factors and have demonstrated positive results—namely reductions in NMUPD. You may need to learn more about those strategies and programs that seem most relevant. This tool provides basic information about each study to better inform your prevention planning decisions; however, more information on the programs highlighted is included in the studies themselves, and each table contains a complete study citation so you can locate the original article.

LIMITATIONS AND CAVEATS

As noted in each of the tools, please be aware of their limitations. These include the following:

- The literature summaries are limited to the time frame, databases, and search parameters used.
- The quality of research methods and evaluation methods were not rated.
- NMUPD is an emerging and fast-growing public health problem; therefore, our understanding of
 what factors predict NMUPD and the types of strategies likely to alleviate this problem are
 rapidly evolving. As we go to press, however, our understanding or risk and protective factors
 and what works to prevent NMUPD and its consequences is relatively limited.
- The methodological rigor of the studies in this tool varies widely. Most studies use nonexperimental designs that cannot categorically determine whether a given strategy has affected NMUPD.

Despite these limitations, practitioners interested in reducing NMUPD may find these tools helpful in increasing their understanding of the risk and protective factors, as well as the strategies, for NMUPD prevention.

76	Fra	n	/ f	-	rd	'n	'n	7
70	⊦ra	ını	ΚT	O	ra	 Λ.	וו	1

-

NEXT STEPS

While understanding the factors and programs summarized in these documents is an important first step, there is more that can be done to prevent NMUPD. Some possible next steps include the following:

- Encourage researchers to focus on identifying more risk and protective influences at the community and societal levels. This would provide a more holistic perspective of NMUPD and place less emphasis on the individual and relationships levels.
- Support innovative programming that addresses NMUPD, with an emphasis on program
 evaluation, to expand the compendium of evidence-based strategies. There is limited
 knowledge on what is effective. In order to use resources wisely, practitioners need to feel
 confident that the strategies they select are effective.
- Evaluate programs that have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing alcohol and other drug use
 to assess their impact on NMUPD. For example, Iowa Strengthening Families Program: For
 Parents and Youth 10-14 was originally designed to reduce alcohol use, but has demonstrated
 evidence of effectiveness with reducing lifetime NMUPD.⁷⁷
- Consider implementing prevention programming across the lifespan (i.e., beyond youth),
 because the risk and protective factors highlighted in these documents span from youth to older adults.
- Consider additional strategies that go beyond reversing opioid overdoses (with the use of
 naloxone or other antidotes) to prevent additional negative consequences. Surviving an opioid
 overdose may itself be a risk factor for additional overdoses,⁷⁸ so strategies that follow the use
 of antidotes should be included as part of a broader comprehensive plan.

_

⁷⁷ Spoth et al., 2013

⁷⁸ Coffin et al., 2007

REFERENCES

Albert, S., Brason II, F.W., Sanford, C. K., Dasgupta, N., Graham, J., & Lovette, B. (2011). Project Lazarus: Community-based overdose prevention in rural North Carolina. *Pain Medicine*, *13*(Suppl 2), S77-S85. Doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01128.x

Anderson, S., Leventhal, T., Newman, S., & Dupéré, V. (2014). Residential mobility among children: A framework for child and family policy. *Cityscape: A Journal of Policy Development and Research*, *16*(1), 5-36.

Arkes, J., & Iguchi, M. Y. (2008). How predictors of prescription drug abuse vary by age. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *38*(4), 1027–1043. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1177/002204260803800405

Bieber, C. M., Fernandez, K., Borsook, D., Brennan, M. J., Butler, S. F., Jamison, R. N., . . . Katz, N. P. (2008). Retrospective accounts of initial subjective effects of opioids in patients treated for pain who do or do not develop opioid addiction: A pilot case-control study. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *16*(5), 429–434. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.16.5.429

Bohnert, A. S. B., Valenstein, M., Bair, M. J., Ganoczy, D., McCarthy, J. F., Ilgen, M. A., & Blow, F. C. (2011). Association between opioid prescribing patterns and opioid overdose-related deaths. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *305*(13), 1315–1321. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.370

Boscarino, J. A., Rukstalis, M., Hoffman, S. N., Han, J. J., Erlich, P. M., Gerhard, G. S., & Stewart, W. F. (2010). Risk factors for drug dependence among out patients on opioid therapy in a large US health-care system. *Addiction*, *105*(10), 1776–1782. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20712819

Catalano, R. F., & Hawkins, J. D. (1996). The social development model: A theory of antisocial behavior. In J. D. Hawkins (Ed.). *Delinquency and crime: Current theories* (pp. 149-197). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). The social-ecological model: A framework for prevention. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/overview/social-ecologicalmodel.html

Cepeda, M. S., Fife, D., Kihm, M. A., Mastrogiovanni, G., & Yuan, Y. (2014). Comparison of the risks of shopping behavior and opioid abuse between tapentadol and oxycodone and association of shopping behavior and opioid abuse. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 30*(12), 1051–1056. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4232297/pdf/ajp-30-1051.pdf

Cicero, T. J., Ellis, M. S., & Surratt, H. L. (2012). Effect of abuse-deterrent formulation of OxyContin. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *367*(2), 187–189. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1204141

Cochella, S., & Bateman, K. (2011). Provider detailing: An intervention to decrease prescription opioid deaths in Utah. *Pain Medicine*, *12*(Suppl 2), S73–S76. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01125.x

Coffin, P. O., Tracy, M., Bucciarelli, A., Ompad, D., Vlahov, D., & Galea, S. (2007). Identifying injection drug users at risk of nonfatal overdose. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, *14*(7), 616-623.

Collins, D., Abadi, M. H., Johnson, K., Shamblen, S., & Thompson, K. (2011). Non-medical use of prescription drugs among youth in an Appalachian population: Prevalence, predictors, and implications for prevention. *Journal of Drug Education*, *41*(3), 309–326.

Collins, D. A., Johnson, K. W., & Shamblen, S. R. (2012). Examining a home environmental strategy to reduce availability of legal products that can be misused by youth. *Substance Use & Misuse, 47*(12) doi: 10.3109/10826084.2012.716481

Dong, M., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Williamson, D. F., Dube, S. R., Brown, D. W., & Giles, W. H. (2005). Childhood residential mobility and multiple health risks during adolescence and adulthood: The hidden role of adverse childhood experiences. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *159*(12), 1104-1110.

Edlund, M. J., Martin, B. C., Fan, M.-Y., Devries, A., Braden, J. B., & Sullivan, M. D. (2010). Risks for opioid abuse and dependence among recipients of chronic opioid therapy: Results from the TROUP study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *112*(1-2), 90–98. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.05.017

Edlund, M. J., Steffick, D., Hudson, T., Harris, K. M., & Sullivan, M. (2007). Risk factors for clinically recognized opioid abuse and dependence among veterans using opioids for chronic non-cancer pain. *Pain*, *129*(3), 355–362. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.02.014

Ehrentraut, J. H., Kern, K. D., Long, S. A., An, A. Q., Faughnan, L. G., & Anghelescu, D. L. (2014). Opioid misuse behaviors in adolescents and young adults in a hematology/oncology setting. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *39*(10), 1149–1160. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsu072

Ford, J. A., & Rigg, K. K. (2015). Racial/Ethnic differences in factors that place adolescents at risk for prescription opioid misuse. *Prevention Science: The Official Journal of the Society for Prevention Research*, *16*(5), 633–641. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-014-0514-y

Frankford, E. (2007). Changing service systems for high-risk youth using state-level strategies. *American Journal of Public Health*, *97*(4), 594-600.

Gallucci, A., Martin, R., Beaujean, A., & Usdan, S. (2015). An examination of the misuse of prescription

stimulants among college students using the theory of planned behavior. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 20(2), 217–226. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2014.913800

Garg, R. K., Fulton-Kehoe, D., Turner, J. A., Bauer, A. M., Wickizer, T., Sullivan, M. D., & Franklin, G. M. (2013). Changes in opioid prescribing for Washington workers' compensation claimants after implementation of an opioid dosing guideline for chronic noncancer pain: 2004 to 2010. *The Journal of Pain, 14* (12), 1620-1628. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2013.08.001

Gee, G. C., Delva, J., & Takeuchi, D. T. (2007). Relationships between self-reported unfair treatment and prescription medication use, illicit drug use, and alcohol dependence among Filipino Americans. *American Journal of Public Health*, *97*(5), 933–940. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.075739

Grattan, A., Sullivan, M. D., Saunders, K. W., Campbell, C. I., & Von Korff, M. R. (2012). Depression and prescription opioid misuse among chronic opioid therapy recipients with no history of substance abuse. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *10*(4), 304–311. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1371

Green, T. C., Heimer, R., & Grau, L. E. (2008). Distinguishing signs of opioid overdose and indication for naloxone: An evaluation of six overdose training and naloxone distribution programs in the United States. *Addiction*, 103(6), 979–989. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02182.x

Haddox, J. D., Joranson, D., Angarola, R. T., Brady, A., Blonsky, E. R., Burchiel, K., . . . Simon, D. (1997). The use of opioids for the treatment of chronic pain: A consensus statement from the American Academy of Pain Medicine and the American Pain Society. *Pain Forum*, *6*(1), 77-79.

Hawkins, J. D., Oesterle, S., Brown, E. C., Arthur, M. W., Abbott, R. D., Fagan, A. A., & Catalano, R. F. (2009). Results of a type 2 translational research trial to prevent adolescent drug use and delinquency: A test of communities that care. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, *163*(9), 789–798. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.141

Hawkins, J. D., Oesterle, S., Brown, E. C., Monahan, K. C., Abbott, R. D., Arthur, M. W., & Catalano, R. F. (2012). Sustained decreases in risk exposure and youth problem behaviors after installation of the communities that care prevention system in a randomized trial. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, *166*(2), 141–148. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.183

Heck, N. C., Livingston, N. A., Flentje, A., Oost, K., Stewart, B. T., & Cochran, B. N. (2014). Reducing risk for illicit drug use and prescription drug misuse: High school gay-straight alliances and lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth. *Addictive Behaviors*, *39*(4), 824–828. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2014.01.007

Henry, K. L., Slater, M. D., & Oetting, E. R. (2005). Alcohol use in early adolescence: The effect of changes in risk taking, perceived harm and friends' alcohol use. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 66(2), 275-283.

Inciardi, J. A., Surratt, H. L., Kurtz, S. P., & Cicero, T. J. (2007). Mechanisms of prescription drug diversion among drug-involved club-and street-based populations. *Pain Medicine*, 8(2), 171-183.

Jeffery, D. D., Babeu, L. A., Nelson, L. E., Kloc, M., & Klette, K. (2013). Prescription drug misuse among U.S. active duty military personnel: A secondary analysis of the 2008 DoD survey of health related behaviors. *Military Medicine*, *178*(2), 180–195.

Johnson, E. M., Porucznik, C. A., Anderson, J. W., & Rolfs, R. T. (2011). State-level strategies for reducing prescription drug overdose deaths: Utah's prescription safety program. *Pain Medicine*, *12*(Suppl 2), S66–S72. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2011.01126.x

Joranson, D. E., Ryan, K. M., Gilson, A. M., & Dahl, J. L. (2000). Trends in medical use and abuse of opioid analgesics. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 283(13), 1710-1714.

Kecojevic, A., Wong, C. F., Schrager, S. M., Silva, K., Bloom, J. J., Iverson, E., & Lankenau, S. E. (2012). Initiation into prescription drug misuse: Differences between lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (LGBT) and heterosexual high-risk young adults in Los Angeles and New York. *Addictive Behaviors*, *37*(11), 1289–1293. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.06.006

Koyyalagunta, D., Bruera, E., Aigner, C., Nusrat, H., Driver, L., & Novy, D. (2013). Risk stratification of opioid misuse among patients with cancer pain using the SOAPP-SF. *Pain Medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 14(5), 667–675. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1111/pme.12100

Lankenau, S. E., Teti, M., Silva, K., Bloom, J. J., Harocopos, A., & Treese, M. (2012). Initiation into prescription opioid misuse amongst young injection drug users. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *23*(1), 37-44.

Ma, C. S., Batz, F., Juarez, D. T., & Ladao, L. C. (2014). Drug take back in Hawai'i: Partnership between the University of Hawai'i Hilo College of Pharmacy and the Narcotics Enforcement Division. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health*, 73(1), 26–31.

Mackesy-Amiti, M. E., Donenberg, G. R., & Ouellet, L. J. (2015). Prescription opioid misuse and mental health among young injection drug users. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, *41*(1), 100–106. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2014.940424

McCabe, S. E., & Teter, C. J. (2007). Drug use related problems among nonmedical users of prescription stimulants: A web-based survey of college students from a Midwestern university. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *91*(1), 69-76.

Mowbray, O., & Quinn, A. (2015). Prescription pain reliever misuse prevalence, correlates, and origin of possession throughout the life course. *Addictive Behaviors*, *50*, 22–27. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.06.006

O'Connell, M. E., Boat, T., & Warner, K. E. (2009). *Preventing mental, emotional, and behavioral disorders among young people: Progress and possibilities*. Washington, DC: The National Academies

Press.

Park, J., & Lavin, R. (2010). Risk factors associated with opioid medication misuse in community-dwelling older adults with chronic pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *26*(8), 647–655. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e3181e94240

Pearson, S., Soumerai, S., Mah, C., Zhang, F., Simoni-Wastila, L., Salzman, C., . . . Ross-Degnan, D. (2006). Racial disparities in access after regulatory surveillance of benzodiazepines. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166(5), 572–579. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.5.572

Peirce, G. L., Smith, M. J., Abate, M. A., & Halverson, J. (2012). Doctor and pharmacy shopping for controlled substances. *Medical Care*, *50*(6), 494–500. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e31824ebd81

Reifler, L. M., Droz, D., Bailey, J. E., Schnoll, S. H., Fant, R., Dart, R. C., & Bucher Bartelson, B. (2012). Do prescription monitoring programs impact state trends in opioid abuse/misuse? *Pain Medicine*, *13*(3), 434–442. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2012.01327.x

Reisman, R. M., Shenoy, P. J., Atherly, A. J., & Flowers, C. R. (2009). Prescription opioid usage and abuse relationships: An evaluation of state prescription drug monitoring program efficacy. *Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment, 3,* 41–51.

Rigg, K. K., March, S. J., & Inciardi, J. A. (2010). Prescription drug abuse & diversion: role of the pain clinic. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *40*(3), 681-701.

Rosenblum, A., Parrino, M., Schnoll, S. H., Fong, C., Maxwell, C., Cleland, C. M., . . . Haddox, J. D. (2007). Prescription opioid abuse among enrollees into methadone maintenance treatment. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *90*(1), 64–71. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2007.02.012

Sansone, R. A., & Sansone, L. A. (2012). Doctor shopping: A phenomenon of many themes. *Innovations in clinical neuroscience*, *9*(11-12), 42-46.

Schroeder, R. D., & Ford, J. A. (2012). Prescription drug misuse: A test of three competing criminological theories. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *42*(1), 4–27. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1177/0022042612436654

Siegler, A., Tuazon, E., O'Brien, D. B., & Paone, D. (2014). Unintentional opioid overdose deaths in New York City, 2005-2010: A place-based approach to reduce risk. *The International Journal on Drug Policy*, 25(3), 569–574. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2013.10.015

Silva, K., Schrager, S. M., Kecojevic, A., & Lankenau, S. E. (2013). Factors associated with history of non-fatal overdose among young nonmedical users of prescription drugs. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *128*(1-2), 104–110. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.08.014

Spoth, R., Trudeau, L., Shin, C., Ralston, E., Redmond, C., Greenberg, M., & Feinberg, M. (2013). Longitudinal effects of universal preventive intervention on prescription drug misuse: Three randomized

controlled trials with late adolescents and young adults. *American Journal of Public Health, 103*(4), 665–672. doi: 10.2105/10ajph.2012.301209

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2014). Results from the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings, NSDUH Series H-48, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 14-4863. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Retrieved from

http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUHresultsPDFWHTML2013/Web/NSDUHresults20 13.htm

Sullivan, M. D., Edlund, M. J., Fan, M.-Y., Devries, A., Brennan Braden, J., & Martin, B. C. (2010). Risks for possible and probable opioid misuse among recipients of chronic opioid therapy in commercial and Medicaid insurance plans: The TROUP Study. *Pain*, *150*(2), 332–339. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.05.020

Sung, H. E., Richter, L., Vaughan, R., Johnson, P. B., & Thom, B. (2005). Nonmedical use of prescription opioids among teenagers in the United States: Trends and correlates. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *37*(1), 44-51.

United States General Accounting Office. (2003). OxyContin abuse and diversion and efforts to address the problem: Highlights of a government report. *Journal of Pain & Palliative Care Pharmacotherapy*, 18(3), 109. Retrieved from http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d04110.pdf

US Executive Office of the President. (2011). *Epidemic: Responding to America's prescription drug abuse crisis*. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/ondcp/policy-and-research/rx_abuse_plan.pdf

Walley, A. Y., Doe-Simkins, M., Quinn, E., Pierce, C., Xuan, Z., & Ozonoff, A. (2013). Opioid overdose prevention with intranasal naloxone among people who take methadone. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 44(2), 241–247. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2012.07.004

World Health Organization. (2016). The ecological framework. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/violenceprevention/approach/ecology/en/

Zacny, J., Bigelow, G., Compton, P., Foley, K., Iguchi, M., & Sannerud, C. (2003). College on Problems of Drug Dependence Taskforce on prescription opioid non-medical use and abuse: Position statement. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 69(3), 215-232.

Zosel, A., Bartelson, B. B., Bailey, E., Lowenstein, S., & Dart, R. (2013). Characterization of adolescent prescription drug abuse and misuse using the Researched Abuse Diversion and Addiction-related Surveillance (RADARS®) System. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *52*(2), 196-204.